In the Supreme Court of Ohio

State of Ohio ex rel. Dave Yost, : Case No. 2022-1286

Ohio Attorney General, :

: On appeal from the Franklin County

Plaintiff-Appellant, : Court of Appeals,

: Tenth Appellate District

V. :

: Court of Appeals

FirstEnergy Corp., et al., : Case Nos. 21AP-443, 21AP-444,

21AP-445

Defendants-Appellees,

:

(Samuel C. Randazzo and Sustainability :

Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc.,

:

Defendants-Appellees). :

MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLANT STATE OF OHIO, EX REL. DAVE YOST, OHIO ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROGER P. SUGARMAN (0012007)

6025 Cranberry Ct. Columbus, OH 43213

(614) 578-6456

rogerpsugarman@gmail.com

and

RICHARD K. STOVALL (0029978)

INTRODUCTION

This appeal affords the Court the opportunity to visit Chapter 2715 of the Revised Code. By their nature, prejudgment attachments are rarely requested, rarely granted, and rarely appealed. Despite this, attachments are extremely important tools in the civil justice system when the need arises. The primary purpose of an attachment is to secure assets where fraud, criminal actions, or other specified circumstances indicate the defendant is actively, or is likely to begin, depleting or hiding assets. An attachment is only available when a plaintiff is able to prove at the beginning of the case that it is likely to succeed in getting a judgment and posts a bond.

The facts in this prominent case exemplify a situation when attachments are necessary and proper. Defendant-Appellee Samuel Randazzo ("Randazzo") received a secret \$4.3 million bribe from FirstEnergy Corp. ("FirstEnergy") through Randazzo's solely-owned entity, Defendant-Appellee Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc. ("SFAO") in conjunction with a plan they concocted to place Randazzo as chairman of the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio ("PUCO"). The plan worked. While chair of the PUCO, Randazzo exerted his considerable influence in favor of FirstEnergy's interest. In addition to shaping and lobbying for the infamous House Bill 6 ("H.B. 6"), Randazzo used his authority as the PUCO chair to minimize, and even eliminate, scrutiny over the rates charged by FirstEnergy to its millions of customers. After the FBI raided one of his homes as part of its public corruption investigation, Randazzo resigned from the PUCO.

FirstEnergy has admitted in a deferred prosecution agreement ("DPA")¹ entered in U.S. District Court that the \$4.3 million paid to Randazzo was a bribe. FirstEnergy agreed to pay a \$230 million penalty, which the U.S. Attorney has called the largest penalty of its kind even entered in the United States.²

Following the DPA, Plaintiff-Appellant the State of Ohio ("State") amended its civil RICO complaint herein to capture a broader picture of the corruption that had surrounded FirstEnergy by including new counts against, among others, Randazzo and SFAO. Additionally, the State, having seen the significant conversion of assets and movement of funds by Randazzo, approached the trial court for *ex parte* prejudgment attachment.

The attachment was sought because, during the seven months after the FBI raided his home, Randazzo gifted a \$500,000 home to his son and sold multiple other properties. These sales included his Akron condo near the FirstEnergy headquarters and his Naples condominium and boat slip, and another Columbus house. These sales generated over \$4 million in proceeds, which were deposited into a newly created brokerage account. Despite the fact that these assets had been owned solely by Randazzo, he jointly opened the brokerage account with his wife.

¹ A DPA is the corporate equivalent of a plea bargain.

² To underscore the potential monetary value of the bribe to FirstEnergy, its share price skyrocketed on the announcement of the DPA, based on investor consensus that FirstEnergy was getting off easy.

The State sought an *ex parte* attachment because the millions of dollars in now jointly-held brokerage funds were capable of immediate wire transfer anywhere in the world. Further, Randazzo's intent to defraud was evident based on him gifting the \$500,000 house to his son, and the underlying criminal conduct. The trial court granted the State's request, issuing the prejudgment attachment. Garnishment orders to relevant financial institutions followed.

In response to the garnishments, it was established that the brokerage account was not intended for use as an investment vehicle, and the concerns about further transfer were justified, because the majority of those funds had just been transferred to a California bank account of a law firm with no presence in Ohio, and to which Randazzo owed no obligation.

As contemplated by R.C. 2715.045(D), Randazzo sought to vacate the attachment order. The trial court held a hearing on Randazzo's motion. Randazzo did not testify, and did not offer substantive evidence. After considering the original evidence alongside additional evidence presented by the State at the contested hearing, the court maintained the attachment. Randazzo appealed.

Although the Tenth District Court of Appeals dismissed most of his arguments, Randazzo found favor in a claim that the trial court failed to adequately explore the "irreparable injury" prong that allows for an attachment to be issued *ex parte*. This factor

does not go to the need for the prejudgment attachment itself, and is only relevant for an *ex parte* order.

The Court of Appeals botched its analysis of this aspect of the Attachment Chapter of the Revised Code, along with the appellate standard of review, when it considered this issue at all, and also when it substituted its judgment of the facts for that of the trial court. It also wrongly found the use of the word "judgment" in the garnishments issued to the financial institutions to be a material error.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Appellees Randazzo and Randazzo's company, Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio ("SFAO"), are Defendants in the underlying civil RICO action brought by the State. (App. Op. ¶ 3.) At the time of the filing of this brief, investigations into decisions and influence by Randazzo while Chair of the PUCO have been on hold due to a request of the United States Attorney, who has recently requested an additional six-month extension because "continued discovery in the PUCO Proceedings may directly interfere with or impede the United States' ongoing investigation." See, Letter from US Attorney Parker to PUCO of Feb. 22, 2023, in PUCO Case Nos. 20-1502-EL-UNC, 17-974-EL-UNC, 17-2474-EL-RDR, and 20-1629-EL-RDR.

The original complaint herein, which was filed in mid-2020, described the corruption surrounding the passage of H.B. 6 of the 133rd General Assembly, a year

4

³ https://dis.puc.state.oh.us/ViewImage.aspx?CMID=A1001001A23B23B03327I03817

earlier. And, it alleged that FirstEnergy Corp., as well as others, used dark money to route bribes to Householder to unduly influence the political process. (R. 7, Complaint.) Most widely known, H.B. 6 provided billions in a bailout of FirstEnergy's nuclear power plants. This feature caused the bill to be colloquially referred to as the "nuclear bailout bill." The nuclear bailout has been valued at \$1.3 billion.

The nuclear bailout was only half of what FirstEnergy got from H.B.6. The second, lesser known, but thanks to Randazzo, highly-valued, gift to FirstEnergy was confusingly called "decoupling." Decoupling provided FirstEnergy's distribution subsidiaries hundreds of millions in guaranteed annual income streams which would make FirstEnergy "somewhat recession proof" according to its then-CEO.⁴ (R. 7, Complaint.)

At the time of the passage of H.B. 6, Randazzo was six months into his tenure as Chair of the PUCO; however, unknown to the public, Randazzo, through his company, SFAO, had been paid \$4.3 million just a few of weeks before he applied for a position with the PUCO. FirstEnergy admitted this \$4.3 million was a bribe to buy Randazzo's favor as the PUCO Chair. (R. 336, Motion to Amend.) It was also unknown by the public that during his employment as a public official, Randazzo helped craft key language of

_

⁴ Randazzo played a key role in this lesser-known aspect of H.B.6. It was called "decoupling" because it "de-coupled" FirstEnergy's profits from its sales. Decoupling set FirstEnergy's high-water-mark 2018 peak-earnings as the floor amount its customers would have to pay even when energy use declined as it was expected to do. Randazzo, as the PUCO chair, caused this floor to be locked-in for years longer than it otherwise would have by deferring when FirstEnergy would face a rate review.

H.B. 6 and lobbied the Legislature to ensure its passage. From his PUCO pulpit, Randazzo initiated actions to profit FirstEnergy, that are only explained by the bribe. (R. 336, Motion to Amend.)

The arrest of the (then) Speaker of the Ohio House of Representatives and others, as well as FirstEnergy's public outing as the funding source of millions in dark money that pushed for the corrupted H.B. 6 legislation, was just the first in a series of events collapsing toward Randazzo. At the end of October 2020, FirstEnergy fired its CEO, Charles Jones, and the Senior Vice President of External Affairs, Michael Dowling, for violating its policies and code of conduct. (R. 336, Motion to Amend.) These are the two individuals who orchestrated the Randazzo bribe. (R. 336, Motion to Amend.)

FirstEnergy disclosed that the termination of key management was related to a questionable payment to "an entity associated with an individual who subsequently was appointed to a full-time role as an Ohio government official directly involved in regulating the Ohio Companies, including with respect to distribution rates." (R. 336, Motion to Amend.) Publicly, the gig was up. In mid-November 2020, two weeks after these firings, the FBI raided Randazzo's home. (R. 336, Motion to Amend.) Randazzo resigned from PUCO a few days later. (R. 336, Motion to Amend.)

In February, March, and May of 2021, Randazzo sold or transferred nearly \$5 million in real estate in several different transactions for properties in several different cities and states. (R. 336, Motion to Amend, pg. 4.) The gifting of a \$500,000-600,000

house to his son, combined with the rapid succession of liquidations by an individual whom a public corporation admitted to bribing, can only be interpreted as part of a plan to intentionally dissipate and deplete assets prior to judgment. In other words, if you can't keep stolen money, then hide it, give it to loved ones, and spend it down trying to save your hide. Whatever you do, don't allow the funds to remain available for easy collection. This is Randazzo's mindset.

On July 20, 2021, one year after the original arrests, the United States and FirstEnergy entered into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement ("DPA") in which FirstEnergy attested sufficient facts of bribing a public official, (i.e., Randazzo) in exchange for favorable treatment. (R. 336, Motion to Amend, Ex. D.)

In this case, on August 5, 2021 the Attorney General filed a motion for leave to amend to add Randazzo, SFAO, and two former FirstEnergy executives as defendants based on the admissions in the DPA. (R. 336, Motion to Amend.) On August 11, 2021, the State filed its motion for prejudgment attachment and request for *ex parte* hearing per R.C. 2715.045. (R. 339, Motion for Prejudgment Attachment.)

Ohio's attachment statutes, R.C. Chapter 2715, permits "[a]n attachment against the property, other than personal earnings, of a defendant, may be had in a civil action for the recovery of money, at or after its commencement," under a number of enumerated grounds. R.C. 2715.01(A). Among those grounds, a plaintiff may seek attachment when the defendant "is about to" "remove," "convert," or "conceal" property or has done so

already. R.C. 2715.01(A)(6)-(9). Alternatively, the plaintiff may show that the defendant "has fraudulently or criminally contracted the debt, or incurred the obligations for which suit is about to be or has been brought." R.C. 2715.01(A)(10).

Orders of attachment can be granted after an evidentiary hearing where both parties have an opportunity to present evidence and be heard. *See* R.C. 2715.03; R.C. 2715.04. The questions at such a hearing are limited to whether there is probable cause to support the motion and whether any of the property of the defendant is exempt from attachment. R.C. 2715.043. If the Court finds it is likely that the plaintiff will obtain judgment against the defendant that entitles the plaintiff to a money judgment, and that judgment can be satisfied out of the property that is the subject of the motion, and one of the trigger factors for an attachment exists, then probable cause is satisfied and the order of attachment should be issued. R.C. 2715.011.

Alternatively, a court may issue an attachment *ex parte* without holding a hearing. The plaintiff may obtain attachment *ex parte* if, in addition to the standard factors, it also establishes that it will suffer "irreparable injury" either because there is a "present danger" that the property will be "immediately" removed, converted, or otherwise concealed, or because the property's value will be substantially impaired by a delay. R.C. 2715.045(B). If an attachment is issued, the court can thereafter hold an evidentiary hearing in which the defendant may contest the entry of the attachment order. *See* R.C. 2715.045(D); R.C. 2715.043.

The trial court took up the State's ex parte motion for prejudgment attachment on the basis that Randazzo was already "dispos[ing] of, conceal[ing], or plac[ing]" proceeds of his criminal conduct "beyond the jurisdiction of the court" in an effort to avoid paying penalties from an inevitable civil suit. R.C. 2715.045(A). (R. 339, Motion for Prejudgment Attachment.) The trial court was already familiar with the underlying facts in this prominent case, having previously held several hearings and having ruled upon multiple preliminary injunction motions and motions to dismiss. Although a hearing on the record was not necessary under the statute—the motion could have been entered simply on the papers—the trial court held one anyway. The court reviewed the materials attached to the supporting affidavit prior to the hearing, and the State was prepared to answer any additional inquiry from the trial court. (R. 410, Hrg. I, pgs. 10-11.) The trial court's rulings were memorialized on the docket after the hearing in several orders on subsequent days. (R. 341, 343, 354.)

When an attachment is granted *ex parte*, the defendant can request a full, contested evidentiary hearing, similar to how a preliminary injunction hearing follows the granting of a Temporary Restraining Order. Invoking that provision, Randazzo filed a "Motion to Vacate" the Ex Parte Prejudgment Attachment Orders. (R. 385, Motion to Vacate.) The State supplemented its prior motion with the additional information stating that on August 2, 2021, Randazzo transferred \$2.5 million to attorneys in California with no presence in Ohio, and \$500,000, in trust, to Ohio attorneys. (R. 386, Supplemental

Affidavit.) To the best of the State's knowledge those transfers appeared to have little purpose beyond placing significant liquid assets beyond the reach of the State.

The court heard the motion per R.C. 2715.04, 2715.043(B), 2715.045(D) and 2715.045(E). (R. 460, Hrg. II, pgs. 4-19.) Randazzo chose not to present evidence or argue the underlying facts which supported probable cause or irreparable injury, instead he spent his time attacking the process and asserting meta-arguments on whether the underlying case was stayed, whether he and his company were procedurally proper "defendants," whether the State was a "creditor," and whether due process existed. (R. 385, Motion to Vacate.) Randazzo, although given the chance, did not present any evidence or testimony to dispute these sales, liquidations, or transfers, or the intent behind them.

The trial court was unpersuaded by Randazzo's form over substance claims, denied the Motion to Vacate and reiterated that the prejudgment attachment was proper even after giving Randazzo an opportunity to contest same. (R. 460, Hrg. II, pg. 35; R. 416.) The trial court did, however, order release of any exempt property to the extent demonstrated and/or agreed by the parties. (R. 416.)

Randazzo appealed the attachment orders and the denial of the motion to vacate to the Tenth Appellate District. (R. 484, Notice of Appeal.) The Court of Appeals reframed Randazzo's lack of jurisdiction claims as "reasons why the attachment order were improperly issued and should be vacated." (App. Op. ¶ 13.) Three alleged

procedural defects (which were not cross-appealed) relating to whether Randazzo was a "defendant" at the time of the attachment, the supporting affidavit lacked sufficient verification, and the absence of a bond, were dismissed quickly. (App. Op. ¶¶ 14-22.)

The Court of Appeals did delve into whether during the original *ex parte* hearing there had been a sufficient showing of "irreparable injury" under R.C. 2715.045. "Irreparable injury" can be shown by either demonstrating a "present danger that the property will be immediately disposed of, concealed, or placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court" or that "the value of the property will be impaired substantially if the issuance of an order of attachment is delayed." R.C. 2715.045(B)(1) and (2).

The Court of Appeals faulted the trial court on the brevity of the *ex parte* hearing lasting twelve minutes, and determined that the trial court failed to provide a "real explanation for its ultimate findings...[beyond] merely provid[ing] a recitation of the statute." (App. Op. ¶ 30.) The Court of Appeals determined that this was a proof problem. Namely, there was insufficient evidence the property sought to be attached, being the proceeds of a mass liquidation of real property which were sitting in various cash accounts, would be "impaired substantially" if the orders were delayed. (App. Op. ¶ 30.)

The Court of Appeals diminished the State's justification that conversion of illiquid assets into money being a liquid asset, evidences a "present danger" that the money could be immediately wired or transferred to third parties and be immediately

disposed of, concealed, or placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court. (App. Op. ¶ 31.) The Court of Appeals determined that what was necessary was the nearly impossible to obtain "actual evidence that [a transfer] was about to or likely to happen.")⁵ (App. Op. ¶ 31.) Without the equivalent of a copy of pending wire-instructions, the appellate court found the issuance of an *ex parte* attachment to be an abuse of discretion. (App. Op. ¶¶ 30-31.)

This factual conclusion was particularly perplexing because the record at the contested hearing showed that Randazzo had in fact transferred millions of dollars to law firms just prior to the attachment being issued. Thus, the record demonstrated that the "present danger" existed because the money was further transferred just as feared.

The Court of Appeals buttressed its reasoning by asserting that a contrary reading would potentially subjugate any civil action in which money damages are sought to ex parte prejudgment attachment merely because funds in banks, brokerage accounts, etc. would always be subject to being wired anywhere in the world. (App. Op. ¶ 32.) This grievous legal error ignores the limited grounds for obtaining an attachment, and

-

⁵ Ironically, just days before the *ex parte* hearing, Randazzo had, in fact, transferred \$3 million to law firms' accounts, including \$2.5 million to attorneys in California with no known presence in Ohio. (R. 386, Supplemental Affidavit.) The Court of Appeals indicated that it was exclusively addressing the *ex parte* hearing on August 11, 2021, and not the hearing on Motion to Vacate, and therefore ignoring the Supplemental Affidavit. (App. Op. ¶ 33.) The court left unanswered why the additional information could not be used to defeat the Motion to Vacate, even in the absence of supporting the *ex parte* motion for prejudgment attachment.

underplays the significance of Randazzo's clear efforts to give away, transfer and spend down his ill-gotten proceeds of public corruption. It is not as though this is a run-of-the-mill civil-suit where insurance might be available. Nor had the brokerage assets been long-held or actually invested. Here, the funds represent criminal proceeds of an admitted bribe in the largest public corruption case this State has ever seen. The funds were liquidated from real property only after the corruption was uncovered, and there is no evidence of other assets available to satisfy an eventual judgment. Simply put, if an *ex parte* attachment isn't available here, the statute is a dead-letter and a corrupt official will be allowed to walk off with his bribe.

Lastly, and most absurdly, the court of appeals sought to place itself into the mind of Randazzo by questioning how Randazzo could have been trying to shield assets "on a claim that did not even exist at the time the transfers took place." (App. Op. ¶ 33.) In other words, the court of appeals appeared to believe that gifting a house and selling off millions of dollars in real estate in the months after the FBI raided Randazzo's home, was not a plausible indicator of an intent to convert funds in an attempt to shield assets, because the court of appeals thought that Randazzo had no idea he might be sued. This is illogical. Wrongdoers know of their misdeeds long before they are uncovered by those who have been harmed. Randazzo knew he took a bribe. Randazzo knew others were criminally charged and civilly sued for their parts in the criminal enterprise.

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