IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

State of Ohio *ex rel*. Dave Yost, Ohio Attorney General,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

FirstEnergy Corp., et al.,

Defendants,

(Samuel C. Randazzo and Sustainability Funding Alliance of Ohio, Inc.,

Defendants-Appellees).

Case No. 2022-1286

On appeal from the Franklin County Court of Appeals, Tenth Appellate District

Court of Appeals Case Nos. 21AP-443, 21AP-444, 21AP-445

MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLEES SAMUEL C. RANDAZZO AND SUSTAINABILITY FUNDING ALLIANCE OF OHIO, INC.

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

So, the Attorney General's position—that this oral argument on the Appellees' motion to vacate was an evidentiary hearing at which "supplemental evidence" should have been received and considered by the trial court—cannot be reconciled with the actual record. Accordingly, in this context, the cases offered by the Attorney General are wholly inapposite.

For example, unlike *Johnson & Hardin Co. v. DME Ltd.*, (AG's Merit Brief at 25), in which the defendant appealed the trial court's refusal to hold a "trial-type evidentiary hearing," here the trial court did not hold a post-attachment evidentiary hearing. In addition, the Attorney General has simply mischaracterized the *Johnson & Hardin* decision. The Twelfth District did not rely on supplemental, after-the-fact evidence in addressing the trial court's irreparable-injury analysis. Rather, the Twelfth District affirmed the trial court's finding of irreparable injury based

²⁷ The Attorney General did not request the clerk to serve the attachment orders on the Appellees *until August 25*, *2021, by certified U.S. mail.*

on an affidavit "appended...to the motion for attachment." *Johnson & Hardin*, 106 Ohio App. 3d at 388. Here, the Tenth District properly found that the profound lack of evidence offered by the Attorney General to obtain the *Ex Parte* Orders was enough to reverse and vacate.

The Attorney General's supplemental-evidence argument rests on speculation that an unlawful deprivation of property might be cured if additional evidence is later submitted. "But no later hearing and no damage award can undo the fact that the arbitrary taking that was subject to the right of procedural due process has already occurred." *Fuentes*, 407 U.S. at 82. Indeed, when a plaintiff fails to meet the requirements for attachment, a court "patently and unambiguously" lacks jurisdiction to grant the requested relief. *State ex rel. Goldberg v. Mahoning Cty. Prob. Ct.*, 93 Ohio St.3d 160, 165, 753 N.E.2d 192 (2001). A court cannot retroactively correct a jurisdictional defect. *See, e.g., Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp. v. Schwartzwald*, 134 Ohio St. 3d 13, 2012-Ohio-5017, 979 N.E.2d 1214, ¶ 20-42.

Accordingly, and because of the Attorney General's failure to meet the statutory preconditions for securing *ex parte* prejudgment attachment, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to issue the attachment orders. No amount of after-the-fact "evidence" (e.g., the "Supplemental Affidavit") can retroactively cure this jurisdictional defect or resuscitate the *Ex Parte Orders*. The information in the "Supplemental Affidavit" formed no basis for the trial court's issuance of the *Ex Parte Orders* that are the subject of this appeal.

In any event, the so-called Supplemental Affidavit does not assist the Attorney General in satisfying the statutory requirements of R.C. 2715.01. Typifying the Attorney General's wrongheaded assumptions and guesses, the Supplemental Affidavit offered as statement of facts that "[t]o the best of the State's knowledge, those transfers [retainers paid to counsel for the Appellees before this action was filed] *appeared to have* little purpose beyond placing significant

liquid assets beyond the reach of the State." (Emphasis added.) (AG's Merit Brief at 10.) Again, no facts, or personal knowledge support this claim, other than what "appeared" to the Attorney General. Is it any wonder that the Court of Appeals unanimously vacated the *Ex Parte Orders*?

Even were the Supplemental Affidavit considered, it wouldn't help the Attorney General show that "Randazzo's mindset" was to not "allow the funds to remain available for easy collection." (AG's Merit Brief at 7.) Quite the opposite: The Supplemental Affidavit shows the Attorney General is grasping at straws. His apparent position is that the Appellees, for the purpose of evading a maybe-someday *Ohio creditor* (the Attorney General) that had *not even asserted a claim*:

- Sold *Florida* real property that was *exempt from collection* by that alleged Ohio creditor (because the property was located outside of Ohio, and it was owned by Mr. Randazzo with his wife as tenants by the entirety)²⁸;
- Transferred, via an *Ohio-based* investment adviser, the sale proceeds of the Florida property to Charles Schwab, an institution with a *significant presence in Ohio* (rather than some institution located outside of Ohio or overseas);
- Then transferred hundreds of thousands of dollars from the sale proceeds to the IOLTA account of his *Ohio* attorney at a bank headquartered in Columbus, Ohio; and
- Kept funds in that *Ohio* attorney's IOLTA account, even after the Attorney General signaled his intent to seize the IOLTA account.

The Attorney General's arguments strain credulity. Even had this so-called "supplemental evidence" been considered, it would not have cured the Attorney General's failure of proof or the trial court's failures to properly exercise its gatekeeper function in an *ex parte* prejudgment attachment action.

_

 $^{^{28}}$ E.g., In re Qamar, No. 3:16-BK-1490-JAF, 2017 WL 8219533, at *2 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. May 19, 2017).

IV. Response to Fourth Proposition of Law: The Court of Appeals did not err by finding that R.C. 2715.05 requires the amount stated in the attachment order to mirror the amount stated in plaintiff's attachment affidavit.

R.C. 2715.03(A) requires the plaintiff's attachment affidavit must state the "nature and amount of the plaintiff's claim[.]" An attachment order must direct the levying officer to seize non-exempt property to satisfy the "plaintiff's claim, or so much thereof as will satisfy [the plaintiff's claim], to be stated in the order as in the affidavit, and costs of the action, not exceeding one hundred dollars." (Emphasis added.) R.C. 2715.05(A). Thus, under the plain language of R.C. 2715.05(A), the amount to be attached per a court's order must mirror the amount stated in the attachment affidavit submitted by the plaintiff in the first instance and must be tied to the plaintiff's justiciable claim.

Here, the Attorney General submitted an affidavit claiming (without any support) that the Appellees "owe the State of Ohio \$4.3 million[.]" (R. 340, 2021/08/12 Miller Aff. at ¶ 8.) But contrary to the statute, the trial court entered an attachment order directing the seizure of property sufficient to satisfy a claim of \$8 million. (R. 343, 2021/08/12 Attachment Order No. 2 at 1.)

The Attorney General's defense of the attachment amount defies common sense and asks the Court to believe something as true just because he says so. He begins by noting that R.C. 2715.01(A) states that an attachment "may be had in a civil action for the recovery of money[.]" (Emphasis sic.) (AG's Merit Brief at 27.) But this unremarkable language—which is found in the portion of the statute addressing potential grounds for attachment—has nothing to do with the amount for the attachment, which again must be tied to a claim for injury to person or property (i.e., a damage claim).

²⁹ (See 2022/01/13 AG's Reply in Support of Objection at 2) ("The 'it' [in R.C. 2715.05(A)] obviously references 'plaintiff's claim'. This reads "so much thereof as will satisfy [plaintiff's claim], to be stated in the order as in the affidavit.").

The Court of Appeals found that the Attorney General failed "to adequately explain where this \$8 million figure was obtained...." (*Decision*, ¶ 38.) His brief all but confirms the correctness of this finding and indicates that he is still straining to (but cannot) answer the eight-million-dollar question. Instead of explaining where the \$8 million figure was obtained, he resorts to arguing that Ohio's Corrupt Practices Act ("OCPA") allows for treble damages, and as a result, he is entitled to recover \$12.9 million. (AG's Merit Brief at 27.) Even if this were true (and it is not), this does nothing to explain where or how the \$8 million (the actual dollar amount he used) was obtained, and he still has not connected either the \$4.3 million figure or the \$8 million figure to damages resulting from injury to person, property, ratepayers, or the State of Ohio. ³⁰

As already explained above, the mystery created by the Attorney General's claim of \$4.3 million in one pleading and then \$8 million or \$12.9 million somewhere else is no technical defect. The claim is the Attorney General's legal equivalent of a shell game without any pea.³¹ R.C. 2923.34(E) does not assist the Attorney General because he hasn't suffered any actual damages. While the provision may provide for treble damages, three times zero is still zero. This "Fourth Proposition of Law" is meritless.

³⁰ The Attorney General's RICO claim is advanced by him as a putative representative of ratepayers. But ratepayers have no cognizable claim for RICO-based damages because, among other things, (1) the ratepayers' claims are being settled through a class action; and (2) the establishment of compensation for a utility which is provided by ratepayer charges is a legislative function that is not subject to being second guessed by the judicial branch, *even in circumstances where the claim that the legislative outcome was secured through a corruption-enabling conspiracy is assumed to be true. See e.g., S. Branch LLC v. Commonwealth Edison Co.*, 46 F.4th 646, 647 & 649-652 (7th Cir. 2022) (rejecting RICO claims against utilities that allegedly bribed the Illinois Speaker of the House based on the filed rate doctrine).

³¹ As the applicable statute clearly states, the Attorney General is not entitled to treble damages even were he to prevail on the OCPA claims, since a successful plaintiff may seek to recover "triple the *actual damages* the [plaintiff] sustained." (Emphasis added.) R.C. 2923.34(E). To pursue treble damages, the Attorney General must show a conspiracy to violate or a violation of R.C. 2923.32 and the amount of *actual damages* sustained *by clear and convincing evidence*. R.C. 2923.34(E). The \$4.3 million claimed by the Attorney General is not connected to any actual damages to the State of Ohio or any other person.

V. <u>Response to Fifth Proposition of Law</u>: The Court of Appeals did not err when it found that R.C. 2715.091 does not authorize a court to issue post-judgment garnishments under R.C. Chapter 2716 on a pre-judgment basis.

The Attorney General claims that in "its effort to completely up-end attachment law in Ohio, the Court of Appeals ruled that the use of garnishment orders was improper." (AG's Merit Brief at 29.) This misrepresentation of what the Court of Appeals held and determined as to the improper use of garnishments typifies the misstatements (or worse) that pepper the Attorney General's Merit Brief.

Regarding garnishment orders, the Court of Appeals said "[f]irst, because the attachment orders were improperly issued, it is axiomatic that the garnishment orders upon which they are based are also defective." (*Decision*, \P 35.) Then, the appellate court stated clearly: "despite the fact that it is undisputed there had been no judgment entered against appellants at the time the garnishment orders were entered in these cases, the State utterly failed to comply with the requirements of R.C. 2715.091 governing prejudgment garnishments proceeding." (*Id.*, \P 36.)

And then, after reviewing what occurred at the trial court, the Court of Appeals determined that "[i]nstead of following the requisite proceedings for obtaining prejudgment garnishment orders [in R.C. 2715.091], the State obtained post judgment garnishment orders under R.C. Chapter 2716...." (Id., ¶ 37.)

So, yes, the Court of Appeals held that the issuance and use of *post-judgment* garnishment orders in this case was unlawful. But the Court of Appeals did not upend anything. It just put an end to the Attorney General's improper use of a statutory process that is not available here.

No amount of "on-the-ground background" offered by the AG's Merit Brief (p.30) makes up for the lack of merit of the Attorney General's "Fifth Proposition of Law." Tellingly, not a

single citation of law or precedent accompanies the theories advanced on pages 29 through 32 of the Attorney General's Merit Brief.

Moreover, violations of R.C. Chapter 2715 are not harmless errors. (*Cf.* AG's Merit Brief at 31.) By using the post-judgment garnishment process to seek assets that were not targeted by the Attorney General's motion for attachment, the Attorney General unlawfully expanded the scope of attachment beyond the specific property sought in the motion for attachment. (R. 339, 2021/08/12 AG's Mot. Attachment at 6; R. 340, 2021/08/12 Miller Aff. at ¶ 16.) The trial court only approved the *attachment of that specific property*. (R. 410, 2021/08/11 Tr. at 8:11-12:7.) A trial court does not have the authority to grant a blanket attachment order of property. *Ohio-Carrier Concrete Cutting, Inc. v. Carrier Concrete Cutting, L.L.C.*, 10th Dist. Franklin No. 09AP-526, 2009-Ohio-6783, ¶ 14-15 (stating a motion for prejudgment attachment must be supported by an affidavit describing the "specific property to be attached"); *Aragonite Cap. Markets, LLC v. Dark Horse Media, LLC,* No. 1:22-CV-00222, 2022 WL 614678, at *9 (N.D. Ohio Mar. 2, 2022) (finding that a general statement that the plaintiff "seeks to attach 'all of the assets and property of the Company'" is insufficient).³²

After the trial court approved attachment of *specific property* of the Appellees, the Attorney General continued to expand, at his will, the scope of the *Ex Parte Orders* to reach other property, including funds held in the IOLTA account of the Appellees' counsel, that have now been frozen since November 2021. He did so by submitting the same post-judgment garnishment

_

A blanket attachment order would be inconsistent with the statutory scheme for protecting the defendant's exemptions. The attachment statute "places the burden upon the plaintiff to show that the property sought is not exempt from attachment proceedings." Peggy M. Coleman, et al., *Creditor's Rights in Ohio: An Extensive Revision*, 16 Akron L Rev 487, 500 (Winter 1983); *see* R.C. 2715.03(E) (providing that a plaintiff is required to submit an affidavit stating, among other things, that to "the best of plaintiff's knowledge" the "property is not exempt from attachment or execution"). A court can only enter an order against property that is not "exempt by law...." R.C. 2715.05(A).

affidavit struck down by the Court of Appeals, an affidavit that falsely claimed that the Attorney General had obtained an \$8 million judgment against the Appellees.

In addition to the damage done by the Attorney General's unlawful seizure of the Appellees' property and property rights, the Appellees have incurred (and continue to incur) substantial attorney fees defending against the Attorney General's ongoing efforts to wrongfully deprive them of their property.

The trial court failed to comply with the requirements of R.C. 2715.091, and as a result, the Court of Appeals properly vacated the erroneously issued *Ex Parte Orders*.

OTHER APPROPRIATE CONTENTIONS AS REASONS FOR AFFIRMANCE OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' JUDGMENT (S.Ct.Prac.R. 16.03(B)(1))

I. Even if the Court adopts one or more of the Attorney General's Propositions of Law, the Court of Appeals' judgment is still correct.

This Court reviews "judgments, not reasons." *State v. Weber*, 163 Ohio St. 3d 125, 2020-Ohio-6832, 168 N.E.3d 468, ¶ 49 (plurality opinion). The Court has often stated that it "is not authorized to reverse a correct judgment merely because erroneous reasons were assigned as a basis thereof." *State ex rel. Carter v. Schotten*, 70 Ohio St. 3d 89, 92-93, 637 N.E.2d 306 (1994) (rejecting the reasoning of lower court but affirming dismissal of two of three of prisoner's appeals on alternative grounds); *State ex rel. Cunningham v. Reed*, 117 Ohio St. 3d 184, 2008-Ohio-855, 882 N.E.2d 916, ¶ 2-7 (rejecting appeals court's finding that appeal was moot but dismissing prohibition action because prisoner needed to file for habeas corpus). Therefore, the Court, consistent with its precedent and practice, will consider an argument advanced by an appellee that further supports the court of appeal's decision, despite the fact that the court of appeals rejected the argument.

An appellee need not file a cross appeal to raise such an argument. In a prior case, this Court explained:

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